
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £2.12 in 
printing costs 

 
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:   
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Tuesday, 30 August 2022 

 

Dear Councillor,  
 
CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
A  meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be held remotely - via Microsoft 
Teams on Monday, 5 September 2022 at 10:00. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Apologies for Absence    

 To receive apologies for absence from Members. 

 
2.  Declarations of Interest    

 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 1 
September 2008 (including whipping declarations) 

 
3.  Director of Social Services Annual Report 2021/22   3 - 92 

 Invitees: 
 
Councillor Jane Gebbie - Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for Social Services 
and Early Help 
Councillor Rhys Goode - Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations  
 
Claire Marchant - Corporate Director - Social Services and Wellbeing 
Jacqueline Davies - Head of Adult Social Care 

Laura Kinsey - Head of Children’s Social Care 

Andrew Thomas - Group Manager - Sports and Physical Activity 
Pete Tyson – Group Manager - Commissioning 
 

4.  Conclusions/Recommendations  
 

 

5.  Forward Work Programme Update  
 

93 - 106 

6.  Urgent Items    

 To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in 
accordance with Part 4 (paragraph 4) of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person 

Public Document Pack



presiding at the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be 
transacted at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 
 

Note: Please note: Due to the current health and safety requirements this meeting will not be held at 
its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending remotely. 
The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site which will 
be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding this, please 
contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy  
 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
H T Bennett 
F D Bletsoe 
P Davies 
RM Granville 

S J Griffiths 
M L Hughes 
M Jones 
RL Penhale-Thomas 

T Thomas 
G Walter 
A Williams 
AJ Williams 



Page 1 of 6

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT TO CORPORATE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 

SOCIAL SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 

1. Purpose of report  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee, the Director of Social 

Services’ draft Annual Report for 2021/22 for scrutiny in preparation for consideration 

by Council on 14th September 2022. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.

Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background 

3.1 Following the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
(SSWBA) 2014, Welsh Government developed a performance framework which 
aimed to ensure that authorities are inspected using the well-being outcomes of the 
Act.  The Act has two key policy objectives: 

 to improve the well-being outcomes for people who need care and support; 
 and to reform social services law. 

It seeks to: 

 transform the way in which social services are delivered, primarily through 
promoting people’s independence and giving them a stronger voice and 
control;  

 promote partnership working in social care;  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 6

 and enhance the preventative role of social care and health, setting out 
overarching well-being duties to reduce or delay the need for care and support. 

3.2 The performance framework provides the foundations of the Council’s duty to appoint 
a statutory Director of Social Services who must report annually to Council on the 
effectiveness of social services and well-being in the authority area.  

3.3 The methodology for the format of the Annual Report is prescribed under the Code 
of Practice, to measure social services’ performance which sets standards which 
must be reported on. These standards, in turn, reflect the national outcomes 
framework. The approach to inspection, engagement and performance review is 
similarly focused on outcomes, with an emphasis on engaging with people to learn 
about their experiences and listen to their views. 

4. Current situation/proposal 

4.1 The SSWBA, places strong emphasis on promoting the well-being of people who 
need care and support and carers who need support. It is important that the views 
and voices of people and their carers are heard. 

4.2 The aim of the Annual Report (Appendix 1) is to provide the Council and people 
living in Bridgend County Borough with an overview of social care.  It aims to highlight 
the progress made over 2021/22, being clear about strengths as well as areas for 
improvement, and identify priorities for 2022/23.  

4.3 The preparation of the report involved an analysis, based on evidence of 
effectiveness. Staff across the services have contributed to the development of this 
report and there is evidence within the report of feedback from people who use social 
services and carers together with feedback from third sector partners.   

4.4 The guidance for the report sets out the sections in relation to the six national quality 
standards for well-being: 

 Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that 
people want to achieve; 

 Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and 
mental health and emotional well-being; 

 Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm; 
 Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society; 
 Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 

personal relationships; 
 Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, to 

have a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs. 

4.5 The report provides a summary of the main achievements in 2021/22 considering the 
challenges faced and the report also highlights the priorities for social services in 
2022/23.  The analysis draws on progress against the business plans, performance 
data for each service area in adults’ and children’s social care, the views of Care 
Inspectorate Wales (CIW) as the regulatory and inspection body for social services 
and social care in Wales and feedback from people who have experienced social 
services and well-being and their carers. 

Page 4



Page 3 of 6

4.6 The report evidences key service developments and improvements made during 
2021/22 whilst recognising those areas where improvements and change are 
required. The report also identifies the significant risks and challenges faced as the 
Council moves forward. This information has informed our key priorities for 2022/23. 

4.7 This report acknowledges the support of the whole Council, our partners in Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO), Cwm Taf Morgannwg University 
Health Board, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region, our cultural and leisure partners; Halo 
and Awen, and the whole social care sector. It pays tribute to the phenomenal 
commitment to the most vulnerable people in society of the social care, prevention 
and well-being and social work workforce. 

CIW Performance Review    

4.8 In May 2022, CIW carried out a performance evaluation inspection of Children’s 
Social Care. The purpose of the inspection was to review  our  performance in 
exercising our social services duties and functions in line with the principles of the 
SSWBA. These principles are Voice and Control, Prevention, Well-being and 
Partnership and Integration. 

4.9 CIW published their inspection report in August 2022 and it will be presented to 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2 on 15th  September 2022 along with an  
action plan that has been developed in response to the recommendations of the 
report. 

Priorities for 2022/223 

4.10 The priorities consist of Council wide priorities and those specifically for Adult Social 
Care, Children’s Social Care, and Prevention and Wellbeing. The Directorate will 
implement the actions as set out in the 2022/23 Social Services and Wellbeing 
Directorate Business Plan. The 10 overarching priorities for Social Services and 
Wellbeing in 2022/23 are as follows:  

1. Embed the learning from child and adult practice reviews, and regulatory 
inspections, to ensure the quality and effectiveness of safeguarding in Bridgend 
is improved, and ensure there is trust and confidence of people, communities and 
partners in multi-agency safeguarding practice in the county borough. 

2. Recognising the Council is a significant provider of social care, strengthen the 
quality and effectiveness of leadership, governance and care delivery in regulated 
direct services whilst delivering significant new services to improve outcomes for 
people. 

3. Deliver clear short, medium and long term priorities in our workforce plans for the 
social care and social work workforce to ensure a motivated, supported workforce 
in sufficient numbers to effectively meet need. 

4. Implement the first year of ‘Signs of Safety’ for children’s social care and the 
remodelling of adult social work as the next step in strengthening and improving 
strength based practice in Bridgend. 

Page 5



Page 4 of 6

5. Develop service planning groups for key population areas, with a view to ensuring 
sufficiency of quality and quantity of accommodation, care and support services 
for people with care and support needs in Bridgend. 

6. Building on the success of prevention and wellbeing in Bridgend to continue to 
develop sustainable, user led approaches and services which keep people well, 
connected and reduce the need for statutory interventions. 

7. Develop business cases to develop sustainable, resourced operating models for  
information advice and assistance and safeguarding localities in children’s social 
care and care and support at home in adult services to ensure the Council can 
meet statutory duties in a timely way to a quality standard.  

8. Implement a new performance and quality assurance framework to ensure 
effective management oversight, performance improvement and continuous 
improvements through a focus on getting the core business right and addressing 
quickly, and at any early stage, emerging risks and issues. 

9. Improve the way we engage and consult across all parts of our service, building 
on success in areas such as learning disabilities and  care experienced children. 

10. Continue to progress opportunities for integrated working with Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Health Board and key partners where this evidently improves 
outcomes for people. 

4.11 There are additional specific priorities identified at the end of each of the 6 standards.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 

5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  

6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 
and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the SSWBA, in turn, 
supports the promotion of two of the seven goals of the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the County Borough of Bridgend. By promoting 
an environment that maximises people’s physical and mental well-being and by 
supporting children, young people, adults and their carers and families to fulfil their 
potential no matter what their circumstances, the well-being goals of a Healthier and 
more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported. 

Page 6



Page 5 of 6

7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report: 

 Long Term: Social Services is demand led and the SSWBA focusses on 
sustainable prevention and well-being outcomes for the future. There is a 
requirement to meet the needs of people in the longer term and, because of 
rising demographics and increasing complexity, the continued remodeling and 
transformation of services continues to be a priority.   

 Prevention:  The report highlights developments by the Directorate in line with 
the SSWBA, for example, additional resource within the information, advice 
and assistance in children’s social care and development of workforce projects 
for care and support at home in adult social services to ensure the Council can 
continue to meet statutory duties in a timely way.

 Integration: The implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to 
work with partners, particularly the NHS and the Police, to ensure care and 
support for people and support for carers is provided.  The report evidences 
work with the Third Sector, enabling people to remain linked to communities, 
and the provision access to leisure facilities and programmes for children and 
young people with disabilities, young carers and care experienced children. 

 Collaboration: The collaborative approaches described in the report, are 
managed and monitored through various collaborative boards. These include, 
the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board (RPB), the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board, the Bridgend Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding (MASH) Team and the Integrated Cluster Network Teams. 
Strategic planning and local delivery of integrated support and services are 
developed and agreed at a regional basis in order to provide optimal  
intervention to people. 

 Involvement:  The key stakeholders are the people who use social care. There 
is considerable engagement including surveys, stakeholder meetings, focus 
groups, feedback forms and the social services complaints and compliments 
process. The provision of accessible information and advice helps to ensure 
that the voice of adults, children and young people is heard. Enhancing 
involvement through engagement is a key priority for 2022/23. 

8. Financial implications 

8.1 Whilst there are no direct financial implications from this report, the medium and long 
term sustainability of social services, well-being and prevention represents a 
significant pressure to Council budgets. 

8.2 Although a significant underspend for 2021/22 was achieved due to unprecedented 
levels of short term grant funding, it is important to note that the Directorate has 
identified significant budget pressures as part of the 2023/24 budget setting process.  

Page 7



Page 6 of 6

9. Recommendations 

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee scrutinises the content of the Director of Social 
Services draft Annual Report for 2021/22 and provides feedback to be considered in 
preparation for the full report being presented to Council on 14th September 2022. 

Claire Marchant 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
September 2022 

Contact officer:  Claire Marchant 
Director of Social Services 

Telephone:  (01656) 642251

Email: Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal address:  Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:  

None 

Page 8



SOCIAL
SERVICES AND
WELLBEING
DIRECTORATE

Director of Social
Services 
Annual Report 

2021/22

Page 9



Adult Social Care
Children’s Social Care 
Prevention and Wellbeing 

Our workforce and how we support their
professional roles 
Our financial resources and how we plan
for the future
Our partnership working, political and
corporate leadership, governance and
accountability

1. Directors Introduction

2. How are people shaping our services

3. Promoting the well-being of those we
help

4. How we do what we do

Table of Contents

Page 10



This is my second annual report as Corporate Director of Social Services
and Wellbeing in Bridgend, having commenced working in the County
Borough in October 2020. At the end of 2020/2021 there was a degree of
optimism that despite the huge challenges presented by the pandemic that
the worst challenges were over. This optimism was reflected in a Quality
Assurance Check undertaken by Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) in April
2021 which, whilst identifying areas for improvement particularly in
children’s social care, was on the whole positive about the quality and
effectiveness of leadership and partnership through the first year of the
global pandemic.

I must start this annual report by paying a huge tribute to the frontline
social care and wellbeing workforce who despite many challenges have
continued to deliver wellbeing, prevention, social work and social care
services to the most vulnerable people within our communities.I would also
like to thank the early help workforce in the Council, third sector partners in
Bridgend and our commissioned providers, as well as our partners in the
Cwm Taf Morgannwg region. Together we have worked to keep adults and
children well, connected and supported. There are many examples of
innovation which have reduced the need for statutory interventions.
Through all the pandemic challenges many people have been well
supported due to the fantastic work of our workforce and partners.

2021/22 has been a challenging year, and we have seen some reductions
in the very high level of performance achieved in 2019/20, which was a
unique year due to the level of covid-19 lockdowns. Whilst performance
indicators are important, they only tell part of the story of how well 
social services and wellbeing and preventative services have 
performed. Whilst much of this report will focus on areas for 
improvement, it is important that we celebrate the things we do well.

Directors Introduction

How Well We Have Performed

Page 11



Our vision is:
Seamless – services and information which are less complex and better

co-ordinated for the individual; close professional integration, joint
working, and information sharing between services and providers to avoid
transitions between services which create uncertainty for the individual.’

(from A Healthier Wales)

Directors Introduction

Seamless locality based well-being, primary and community health and
social care for all population groups.
Organising all our services – commissioned and provided in extended
primary and community service clusters. 
Prevention, supporting people to manage their own health and wellbeing
Enabling people to live independently, well and connected.
Supported by technologies and integrated teams co-located teams –
single package of support even where there are several professionals
involved in assessing need.
Wrapped around the needs and preferences of the person, based on
‘what matters’ so that it makes no difference who is providing individual
services. 
Transfer from county wide services to locality and community based
approaches.

We have clear purpose and vision for our adults and children’s social care.

Many strengths to build on.

So we are focused on:

Page 12



Directors Introduction

In addition, in children’s social care we are:

Working together to enable better outcomes for children, young people
and their families via strong relationships, effective practice and timely
and responsive services, which support children and families to live
together (wherever possible), work on difficulties and safeguard children
from harm.

There has been vision and capital investment in developing inhouse care
homes.It is important to acknowledge there have been significant
difficulties in consistently sustaining quality in the delivery of children's
care homes. There are areas we need to improve. We are focussed on
ensuring we have the right operating models, workforce skill mic,
management and leadership and governance. We are focussed on
getting things right before the opening of new services in early 2023/24.

A new corporate parenting and participation officer post has 

In our children’s services in the last year we have created the care
experienced children’s team and this is impacting on improving outcomes for
children and families. There has been a sustainable reduction in the number
of care experienced children in Bridgend. Over the past year our
reunification workers have promoted permanance and stability for care
experienced children including supporting 10 children to return to live with
family members.

      been developed and there is now a real focus and vision on 
      refreshing and invigorating how the Council and partners 
      effectively parent our children and support them to achieve 
      the best outcomes.

Page 13



Directors Introduction

In addition, in sdult social care
Bridgend adult social care has been high performing and leading
practice in the integration of health and social care in Wales for a
number of years. This strength in all parts of adult services in Bridgend
was recognised by CIW in their April 2021 quality assurance check.
There is an experienced professional workforce and there is an
opportunity through this report to pay tribute to the excellent practice in
areas which do not often receive attention.

The Council’s community occupational therapy team has recently
been subject to an internal audit report which gave a high assurance
judgement on the way the service works to meet people’s needs in a
timely way. This service has worked throughout the pandemic to keep
people as independent as possible in their own homes and has
drastically reduced waiting times. The service has an effective
relationship with Care and Repair for the timely provision of minor
adaptations. 

Another area of practice which is highly effective is adult safeguarding.
The Adult Safeguarding and Secure Estates Manager has succeeded
in significantly reducing waiting times for deprivation of liberty
safeguards (DoLs), which are critical to the safety and protection of
people who do not have the capacity to make important decisions
regarding their own lives.This performance contrasts with that in other
areas of Wales where DoLs waiting lists remain a significant
challenge.

Page 14



Learning disability services are highly effective in hearing the voice of
people with care and support needs, and ensuring that people, who
are experts in their own lives, drive the development of services. The
recommissioning of supported living services in Bridgend was
delivered through partnership with Bridgend People First, which
provides peer advocacy and support for people with learning
disabilities. There is a service development plan for people with
learning disabilities which has been led by People First; the chair of
People First Bridgend described the co-productive way in which the
plan had been developed as exceptional.

Our prevention and well-being services are leading edge in Wales in
their approach to enabling people to be healthy, well and connected.
Examples include the superagers programme which is a Bevan
Exemplar, active you people programme and local community co-
coordination. We have established partnerships for leisure and culture
with Halo and Awen and there are specific programmes for the most
vulnerable through our partners such as dementia friendly swimming,
the national exercise referral programme and supported employment
schemes with Awen through which trainees achieve fantastic
outcomes on the pathway to employment.

Directors Introduction

Page 15



Directors Introduction

In summary, Bridgend has many strengths – there are good relationships
with partners locally and regionally – the NHS, South Wales Police,
probation, providers. There is a strong history of integrated services for
older people – the team around Mrs. Jones. There are a good range of
mental health and learning disability services and a clear strategic plan for
improving children’s social care. The social services commissioning team
has good relationships with social care providers which have kept us strong
as we have worked through the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.
There is also well evidenced co-production of people taking a lead in
designing their services, e.g. learning disabilities, BING carers network and
increasingly care experienced children through the work of the new
Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer.

Page 16



Directors Introduction

A Significant Improvement Agenda

It is also important to acknowledge that 2021/22 has been a very difficult
year for Social Services and Wellbeing in Bridgend. Whilst this has been the
case for many other local authority social services directorates in Wales and
beyond, there have been unique and tragic circumstances in Bridgend
which have heightened the challenges, scrutiny and recovery and renewal
work required

Colleagues in the Council, commissioned providers and partners have
worked together tirelessly to address systematically the considerable
challenge which the last year has presented us with. I would like to express
my personal thanks to them for the unwavering commitment to ensuring we
learn, reflect and continuously improve.

Bridgend, as the rest of Wales, worked through a year of dealing with the
impact of the pandemic lockdowns. The impacts have been recognised as
national challenges for social care. The First Minister of Wales has noted
that social workers are “having to make up for a backlog of work that they
weren't able to discharge in the normal way’’. 

In addition to the challenges across Wales and beyond, the people,
communities and workforce in Bridgend have been coming to terms with
and responding to harrowing tragedy. The death of Logan Mwangi is an
unspeakable tragedy for his family and friends. 

Page 17



Directors Introduction

The Council is committed with our partners to ensuring we learn and improve
from all the lessons that will be evidenced through the Child Practice Review
to be published in the autumn of 2022. The Council and multi-agency
partners have been impacted by this tragedy. People choose to work in child
protection and safeguarding in order to protect and safeguard children from
harm. When this does not happen all members of our safeguarding workforce
feel this deeply and need immediate and longer term skilled support to reflect
and continue in these critically important roles. As a Council, and with our
partners, we have committed to everything we can to support and develop
our workforce and work with partners more effectively than ever before. 

CIW undertook a performance evaluation inspection of children’s services in
May 2022 and noted ‘The local authority has taken action to instigate
immediate learning following recent critical incidents’. Amongst the significant
improvements to children’s social care CIW identified, was the need to
address the variability in practice, the quality of our assurance and
management oversight and how well we hear the voice of children and
families. This need to improve management oversight so we can address
issues in a timely way is a vital area of focus. Improving performance
management and quality assurance systems and processes is key. An
Improving Outcomes for Children Board has been established, chaired by the
Chief Executive and supported by an independent advisor. This enhanced
governance is important oversight to delivery of the improvement plan in
children’s social care.

Page 18



Directors Introduction

It is important to note that the Performance Evaluation Inspection found
that 93% of our workforce in children’s services felt supported to do their
jobs. Given the unprecedent experience in the last year this is a positive
position to sustain and build upon.

The Council took decisive action to instigate a critical incident when
quality and performance in the Council’s information, advice and
assistance service deteriorated at the start of 2022. At this time
children’s services had been under significant pressure, caseloads were
too high and management oversight and quality assurance systems
were not as good as they should have been. The critical incident
reflected a whole Council approach to delivering improvements in
quality, performance and outcomes for children and families. A number
of colleagues from adult services, other parts of children’s services,
family support services and the regional adoption service answered the
call to provide immediate support to the service and their support was
critical. Investment in additional workforce capacity through a managed
team means caseloads are now at best practice levels, quality
assurance and performance managements systems have developed
and the workforce feel better supported. It is however important to
acknowledge in this overview that for a period the service fell short of the
standards that should be achieved and this impacted on outcomes for
children and families in accessing the timely assessment and support
they needed. 

Page 19



There has been an increase in the numbers of people contacting our
services compared to the previous year in both adults and children’s social
care. In adult services, we have seen a delay in some people seeking
support from health and care services due to the pandemic lockdowns, and
the more limited services available at times during the pandemic. Lockdowns
and factors such as delays in NHS treatments have contributed to
deterioration in some people’s well-being, physical and emotional health. In
children’s services some difficult family situations have been exacerbated.
The  cumulative impact of combinations of factors have increased the
challenges people experience in their lives and the complexity of the work we
do in all aspects of prevention, wellbeing and social care. 

In adult services, there has been significant challenge in this last year in
meeting people’s care and support needs in a timely way. The greatest
difficulties have been in care and support at home services, often called
domiciliary care. This in turn is one of the most significant pressure areas
affecting how well the whole health and social care system works, particularly
when people need to be discharged from hospital to their own homes with
care and support. In human terms, people who are delayed in hospital lose
their independent living skills and confidence and this can impact severely on
their emotional health and wellbeing. 
The difficulties in this service area have been exacerbated by the 
high levels of staff absence in in-house services and the 
independent sector is delivering less hours of care than before. 

Directors Introduction

Page 20



The Council is working closely with the NHS to take all possible actions to
address these challenges. Care and Support services have been
recommissioned and there is additional resource for the sector to support their
workforce. All domiciliary staff have been provided the opportunity to increase
their contracted hours and a number have done so. These new contracted hours
are also being offered for new employees recruited to internal domiciliary
services.  Community based recruitment events are taking place and marketing
campaigns have taken place to promote a change in career into the care sector.
Options for employing staff who walk between calls are being developed and
recruitment events are planned in key areas for non-driving individuals.

Options are also being explored for the use of pooled, electric vehicles. As we
move forward, similar to the work to address challenges in children’s social care,
interim capacity is being sought to address the ‘backlog’ in work. More investment
is being made in the independent sector to support providers to support their staff
in view of increased fuel costs and similar options are being explored for the
Council’s own staff. There is a review of current working patterns to make roles
more attractive.

Directors Introduction

Page 21



Directors Introduction

There is a common theme in the key challenge social services in the
Council is facing, namely insufficient numbers of people within our social
care and social work workforce. Focussed actions are being progressed to
improve our workforce planning and development, with very close working
with corporate human resources colleagues. Whilst in the short term the
only option is to secure additional workforce capacity via interim routes, in
the medium term and longer term we are investing in recruiting
internationally and ‘growing our own' social care workforce of the future
through training and developing our people. As an example we have
appointed 16 people to either be secondees or trainee social workers over
the last 2 years. 

Our very highest priority is supporting and retaining the workforce we have
and we are co-producing charters with our workforce to set out the
commitment to the BCBC social care workforce. We are setting out, and
holding ourselves to account on, how we can promote an environment
where social care can thrive. This enables our workforce to hold one
another and management accountable and ensure that our culture, policies,
procedures, and actions support us to improve outcomes and transform
lives.

Page 22



As indicated above, partnerships in Bridgend have always been an area of
strength and have never been so tested or important as the last year. The
importance of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board in
discharging effective safeguarding leadership while focussing on staff
support has been crucial. The Board created an executive steering group
overseeing effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements.

Locally, engagement with partners as part of the response to the critical
incident in the information, assistant and advice service has been key with a
Joint Operational Group providing high challenge but strong relationships
and commitment to improve multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.

South Wales Police and key partners have worked with the local authority to
manage the community impact of the tragic events in the county borough
with a purpose to ensure trust and confidence in safeguarding
arrangements during the high profile criminal trial.

Across the Council relationships have been effective – with HR, marketing
and Employability to address the workforce challenges; with colleagues in
legal services education and family support and housing as we work
together to meet the needs of our most vulnerable people through a one
Council approach.

Relationships with social care providers have remained strong and effective
in the last year. The Council has commissioned supported living and care
and support at home services for adults and has provided significant
support, financial and otherwise to providers of social care as they 
recover from the pandemic impact.

Directors Introduction

Stronger in Partnership

Page 23



Securing and retaining a stable, well-supported, motivated permanent
workforce.
Strength-based, social work practice which supports improved
outcomes for adults and children and families to stay together (wherever
possible) and safeguards people form harm.
Sufficient supply of high quality evidence-based services and
interventions.
Seamless and effective partnership working at an operational and
strategic level.
Listening to and acting on the voice of people.

It is clear from the areas where there is strong and effective performance
that the key success factors are: a clear vision, strong and effective
leadership and management at every level, a well-supported, well-motivated
workforce, strong partnership working, high standards of performance
management and quality assurance and acting upon the voice and
experience of people we are here to serve. 

To progress in those areas where improvements are needed – most
critically children’s social care and care and support in adult services, it is
important to build on what we know will work.

Our thematic priorities for improvement can therefore be summarised
as:

Directors Introduction

What next?

Page 24



Directors Introduction

Delivering these priorities requires a culture that is open and transparent in
respect of the challenges we face, supports improvement and prioritises
what is important. There will be difficult times inevitably in the year ahead
but the genuine commitment of the people, communities, partners and the
Council in Bridgend to come together in the most challenging of times to
support our vulnerable people and the workforce dedicated to supporting
them is heartening. This provides the basis for focused improvement and
improving outcomes in the coming year.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing
July 2022

Page 25



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Children's Social Care

Page 26



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Children's Social Care

Between 2020/21 and 2021/22 there has been a 19.5% increase in
the number of contacts received and a rise of 11.9% in those
progressing to an assessment (advice or assistance).
Over the last 2 years there has been a significant increase in the
number of assessments completed rising from 1042 in 2020/21 to
1644 in 2021/22, which is an increase of 57.8%. 
The reviews of children and young people on the child protection
register or looked after has improved with all being completed
within timescale during the year. Although the number of reviews of
children in need has decreased by slightly by 2.8% the number of
reviews required in the year has increased by approximately 36%. 

An analysis of the Children’s Social Care data notes:

Page 27



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Children's Social Care

The number of children registered on the child protection register
as of 31st March has decreased over the last year with 100% of
initial child protection conferences being held within timescale. This
has been achieved by improving our processes for identifying when
the decision is made to proceed to an ICPC. 
There is a slight dip with the number of statutory visits for children
on the child protection register being completed within timescales.
The number of care experienced children has decreased by 16
(4.1%) between 31/03/2022 and 31/03/2021. The end of year
outturn for 2021/22 is 0.8% off the target of 371. 
To ensure improvements in performance for 2022/23 the
Directorate has increased staffing and resources within the IAA
service to respond to the increase in referrals and subsequent
increase in assessments with weekly performance review meetings
are in place to monitor reviews and statutory visits.

Page 28



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Adults Social Care

Page 29



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Adults Social Care

Page 30



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Adults Social Care

Between 2020/21 and 2021/22 there has been a 25.2% increase
in the number of contacts received and a decrease of 2.9% in
those progressing to an assessment (advice or assistance). 
Over the last 2 years there has been a 25.7% increase in
contacts for carers with an 8.7% increase in those progressing
to an assessment.
Contacts to our Community Reablement Team has experienced
an 8.6% decrease since 2020/21 and a 15.7% decrease over
the 5 year period.
The number of reablement packages that mitigated the need for
care and support has increased significantly during the year
rising from 52% in 2020/21 to 70.04% in 21/22.
Over the last 2 years there has been an increase of 22.1% in the
number of assessments completed rising from 5006 in 2020/21
to 6110 in 2021/22.
The number of reviews completed in the year has decreased by
8.6%.
The number of reablement packages that mitigated the need for
care and support has increased significantly during the year
rising from 52% in 2020/21 to 70.04% in 21/22.

An analysis of the Adult’s Social Care data notes:

Page 31



High Level Summary
 of Performance

Adults Social Care

There has been  a 4.3% increase in the number of safeguarding reports
in the year with maintained performance on the number of enquiries for
adults at risk being completed within 7 days.
The overall performance of keeping people home with plans of care and
support has been significantly impacted upon by the pandemic. The
care market is in a period of reset, and recovery but there is still
significant pressure in this area and a lot of people have entered care
settings prematurely. This is also affecting flow both out of and into our
short-term services. Individuals have been unable to exit our short-term
services into long-term packages of care. Individuals requiring therapy
but no care component have been transitioning through our services as
normal.
The challenge for 22/23 will be too re balance the market, and increase
capacity in reablement services, to ensure that people are prevented
and delayed from entering hospital and long term care for as long as
possible.

Page 32



enabled our partners in Wales Co-op and Halo and Awen Trusts to
supply digital devices for both carers and people with care and support
needs;
supported Halo Leisure to deliver wellbeing programmes with and for
carers;
secured a range of equipment and resource improvements for our day
opportunities, including an adult outdoor wheelchair swing, which is one
of a very few that is accessible to adults in Wales.
constructed a dementia friendly sensory garden in Bridgend Resource
Centre. The garden has been designed with partners including students
at Pencoed College and co-produced by Age Connect, The Alzheimer’s
Society, and people who access the Specialist Dementia facility at the
Resource Centre.

During 2021/22 we secured funding from the Welsh Government
Recovery fund which has:

Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

Over the last year we worked with people and partners to recover from
the impact of the pandemic on people’s wellbeing and need for care and
support. We received £2.7 million investment in recovery from Welsh
Government to progress our recovery plans. We focused strongly on the
wellbeing of our workforce and on prevention, wellbeing and children
and adult social care recovery.

Page 33



Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

provided significant support to commissioned care home, homecare and
supported living providers in order to assist with recruitment and
retention so they were able to pay staff at Real Living Wage.
purchased log cabins within the gardens of our residential care homes
for children to provide gyms, storage for bikes and other sporting
equipment .
Made a £500 payment to all our BCBC foster carers and adult family
placement carers within Bridgend to recognise how phenomenally they
had supported children and adults during the pandemic .
Supported our workforce through funding additional capacity to allow
the time to begin to reflect and plan for the future ‘post lockdown world
of social care. 
We have also invested in trauma informed specialist support, in addition                
to the Council’s corporate wellbeing resources, for those staff who have                 
needed it.

Recovery and reset work takes time but the opportunity to pause, reflect
and plan, has been important in the last year and needs to continue in
2022/23.We have engaged an improvement partner to support this work. 

Page 34



We developed a 3 year strategic plan to set out the vision and actions we
need for sustainable, safe services. The implementation of the strategic plan
is overseen by the Improving Outcomes for Children Board, chaired by the
Chief Executive and advised by an independent advisor to ensure that the
right actions are being progressed whilst recognising the need to focus on
workforce as the highest priority as the right people in the right roles are
key.

We have also focused strategic actions in our adult services to meet the
need for care and support in our communities. It is a priority for the coming
year to have an aligned plan for adult social care to set out our priority
actions for workforce, practice, provision, partnerships and people.

As in 2020/21, during the year the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to
impact our services with particular impact on our staffing levels within key
frontline services. This is most evident on capacity within care workers and
children’s social work. There is a national issue around recruitment and
retention within these areas and to address this issue we have implemented
project groups that not only closely monitoring demand but also exploring
new and innovative solutions to recruit staff and deliver services. 

Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan "The staff have been

amazing.  All through
Covid we had phone calls
checking in with us, which
meant a lot..' A' and 'B' are
our rock and they go
above and beyond. We
would be lost without the
support"

Page 35



As noted in last year’s annual report in April 2021 Care Inspectorate Wales
(CIW) carried out an assurance check of how well we had ensured the
safety and well-being of people who use or may need to use services, the
safety of services they access and the safety and well-being of people who
work in services. 

During 2021/22 we have been progressing the key actions identified via this
assurance check. Key examples include the establishment of workforce
development groups to support recruitment and retention across key
services, the provision of specialist behavioural support to the parents and
carers of disabled children and reducing the waiting lists for occupational
therapy assessments.

In May 2022 CIW carried out a performance evaluation inspection of
Children’s Social Care. The purpose of the inspection was to reviewour
performance in exercising our social services duties and functions in line
with the principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.
These principles are Voice and Control, Prevention, Wellbeing and
Partnership and Integration. 

Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

How well our regulator has said we have performed 

Page 36



Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

The inspection highlighted a number of key strengths and also areas
requiring significant improvement within all 4 principles. CIW have formally
advised the Council that given the scale of improvements they have ‘serious
concerns’ in respect of Bridgend Children’s Services.

Some examples of strengths identified include; our recognition of the
importance of ensuring children’s voices are heard, the development of our
in-house residential services, our positive working relationships with the
regional safeguarding board and neighbouring local authorities and the
implementation of practice development plans.

Areas for improvement include; the timeliness of the distribution of
assessment / key meeting documentation, availability of in-house foster
care placements, consistency of practice and timeliness of assessments. 

We have developed an action plan in relation to the areas highlighted for
improvement and will be regularly reporting to CIW on the progress of these
actions and they will be closely monitoring our performance.

A copy of the inspection report can be found here.

Page 37

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/report-performance-evaluation-inspection-bridgend-county-borough-council-childrens-services


At present the social Services and Wellbeing Directorate’ is managing a
number of inter-related risks across both Children’s and Adults Social Care:

Trust and confidence in Bridgend safeguarding arrangements
An effective, highly skilled response from a multi-agency safeguarding
partnership with leadership from local authorities is required to ensure and
assure trust and confidence in Bridgend safeguarding arrangements. There
is a risk that without adequate budgets and the decline of a sufficient
experienced workforce that the Council's safeguarding arrangements will
not be effective.

The Council works with key partners in Bridgend and within the Cwm Taf
Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board to safeguard children and adults
at risk. The Board has established an executive steering group which is
meeting monthly to oversee the effectiveness of child protection and
safeguarding arrangements across the region. Following an escalation of
issues and risks in the Council’s IAA service in children’s social care, an
internal critical incident has been declared which is chaired by the Chief
Executive, which is overseeing deployment of additional resources,
including the engagement of a managed team, and a focussed improvement
plan. A new Corporate Safeguarding Officer is being appointed and will start
in post to enhance the support to corporate safeguarding arrangements.

Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

The Most Significant Risks We Face Going Forward

Page 38



Sufficient quality and quantity of social care and social work
workforce to consistently meet statutory duties / Challenges in the
recruitment and retention of staff
It is important that the Department is able to attract, develop and retain a
suitable workforce to ensure it has the relevant capacity and expertise to
continue to deliver our services. If we are able to recruit and retain a
suitably qualified workforce then this not only puts service areas at risk but
also affects the morale of remaining staff.

Within Social Services and Wellbeing we are implementing approaches to
“growing our own” via a considerably enhanced secondment scheme and
social work to train staff to become Qualified Social Workers. We have also
established dedicated projects to focus specifically on recruitment and
retention in domiciliary care and children’s social work.

Dependency on our electronic social care records system (WCCIS)
All of our social care records and services are held on the WCCIS system
which is used by a number of local authorities across Wales. If the system
fails to work well, social work practitioners are unable to check records of
individuals known to the service, including key documentation such as
referrals, assessments, care and support plans which could cause
safeguarding issues but also impact the delivery of front line services.

To minimise this risk the system is closely monitored and supported by our
Corporate ICT Team as well as its external provider. The Department has
established a user group to look at how we can improve our use of the
system and is working with regional partners on the future 
development of the system.

Recovery, Reset & Renewal -
Social Care Recovery Plan

Page 39



Embed the learning from child and adult practice reviews, and
regulatory inspections, to ensure the quality and effectiveness of
safeguarding in Bridgend is improved, and ensure there is trust and
confidence of people, communities and partners in multi-agency
safeguarding practice in the county borough.
Recognising the Council is a significant provider of social care,
strengthen the quality and effectiveness of leadership, governance and
care delivery in regulated direct services whilst delivering significant
new services to improve outcomes for people.
Deliver clear the short, medium and long term priorities in our workforce
plans for the social care and social work workforce to ensure a
motivated, supported workforce in sufficient numbers to effectively meet
need.
Implement the first year of ‘Signs of Safety’ for children’s social care and
the remodelling of adult social work as the next step in strengthening
and improving strength based practice in Bridgend.
Develop service planning groups for key population areas, with a view
to ensuring sufficiency of quality and quantity of accommodation, care
and support services for people with care and support needs in
Bridgend.

Section 3 of this report outlines key priorities for 2022/23
against each of the 6 quality standards.

However, looking holistically across our services the 10 key priorities
for Social Services and Wellbeing in Bridgend in 2021/22 are:-

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Looking to the Future
Key Priorities for 2022/23

Page 40



6. Building on the success of prevention and wellbeing in Bridgend continue
to develop sustainable, user led approaches and services which keep
people well, connected and reduce the need for statutory interventions.
7.Develop business cases to develop sustainable, resourced operating
models for information advice and assistance and safeguarding localities in
children’s social care and care and support at home in adult services to
ensure the Council can meet statutory duties in a timely way to a quality
standard. 
8.Implement a new performance and quality assurance framework to
ensure effective management oversight, performance and improvement and
continuous improvements through a focus on getting the core business right
and addressing quickly, and at any early stage emerging risks and issues.
9.Improve the way we engage and consult across all parts of our service,              
building on success in areas such as learning disabilities and care             
 experienced children
10. Continue to progress opportunities for integrated working with                               
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board and key partners where                                       
this evidently improves outcomes for people.

Looking to the Future
Key Priorities for 2022/23

Page 41



The regular use of surveys within the Support at Home service to
engage with people who use services and their families.
Members of the Community Learning Disability team worked with
People First to produce a series of easy read documents and an
information leaflet about the learning disability team.
The Learning Disability service held a joint away day with key partners
and members of People First to co-produce the service development
plan. 4 priorities were agreed: transport, social/ leisure activities, tech to
talk and joint working. Following this successful event it was agreed that
a person with a learning disability chair a joint working group.
Appointed a Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer in March
2022 who will support and develop the governance and activity of
Corporate Parenting by strengthening the voice of care experienced
children and the involvement of the whole Council and partners as good
parents for our children. The post will also focus on establishing care
experienced forums to provide our children and young people with a
collective voice.

In 2021/22 we have continued to ensure we involve children people in
shaping our key service developments. Here are just a few examples of
how we have engaged and consulted with people this year:

How are people
shaping our services

We are committed to practice, service development and
delivery being driven by people whose lives they impact
on.
The rights of children and adults should be evident in all
we do.

Page 42



In May 22 there was a ‘Health Inspectorate Wales’ review of  discharges
from adult mental health wards into the community. This involved
interviews with social workers and a file audit. The report has not yet been
received and we will progress any recommendations in due course.
4500 secondary school children engaged in survey work to set wellbeing
baselines for the Council’s review of play sufficiency. This survey work is
driving the priorities and reflected the impact of the pandemic on the
emotional health and wellbeing of teenagers in the County Borough.
280 older adults evaluated using healthy and active fund tools and
surveys.
20 carers engaged in evaluating wellbeing improvements

67% of carers felt that they had the right information and advice when
needed.
39% reported being offered an assessment in their own right. Of the those
took up the offer 83% noting they were satisfied with the assessment.
47% reported being actively involved in decision making.
80% reported that they were happy with some or all of the services
received.
60% felt that were actively informed with some or all of the services
received.

During this year’s Carers Week we attended a carer’s coffee morning hosted
by the Care Collective to engage with Carers of both adults and children.
Members of the directorate asked carers to complete a questionnaire and
were on hand to offer any advice or assistance.

An analysis of completed questionnaires noted:

How are people
shaping our services

"We are currently having an
assessment on my daughter and

have been happy with the
support provided."

"Our Social Worker has been amazing
with our family over the last few

months and I would like to
acknowledge her hard work. She's

amazing."

"Was Offered an
assessment but
no-one got back

to me."

Page 43



All knew who to contact when they required help or support,
All felt that Social Services had been there for them.
All felt that they had been treated with dignity and respect.
Advocacy was not consistently provided.More information is required
around the complaints process

Communication.
More support when requesting advice.
Having the right support at the right time

The Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing held 2 focus
groups to gain an insight into how people felt about the services they
received over the last year.

Care Leavers Focus Group:

Areas identified for improvement were :

How are people
shaping our services

"Provided with a Housing form
but would have been helpful
for someone to sit down and

go through it with me."

Page 44



The majority of people new how to contact Social Services or where to
get help to assist in this and felt that they had the right information at the
right time.
All felt listened too and that their views are important. All felt that the
away day with the Learning Disability team planning the future was a
success and would welcome more joint events to progress priorities.
Members enjoyed participating in voluntary activities within their
communities.
Everyone was aware of the advocacy services available to them.
All were very satisfied with the social care services they received.

Availability of easy to read documents.
Use of audio messages rather than texts or emails.
More use of assistive technology at home.

People First Focus Group:

Areas identified for improvement were:

How are people
shaping our services

"I went in with a degree of
interpretation and came out

beaming."

Audio messages would
support lip reading.

Page 45



An analysis of complaints received during the year highlighted 3 key
themes: lack of support, staff conduct and communication. 

An example of some of the compliments received during the year
include:

“Mr “X's Son would like to thank you all for the care provided by yourselves
during the Bridgeway assessment period, he said it was much appreciated”

“Just a little note to say thank you to you and your team for looking after our
Dad so well. The carers are brilliant, they clearly have huge patience in
persuading him to wash and shower. He always looks so well cared for. It’s
made a big difference for my brothers and sisters and me too, giving us
confidence that he is having such good care every day, and knowing that
you’ll be in touch if you have any concerns.”

“Our family wish to thank you and all your excellent and dedicated staff for
the care you gave to “X”on her recent stay with you when we took a holiday.
It has meant so much when “X" has obviously enjoyed her stay and all of
the care you gave her, and it has given us the opportunity to take a 
break and return to see “X” in such a happy mood.
Please convey our heartfelt thanks to all concerned and “X” is 
already looking forward to her next opportunity to stay with you.”

How are people
shaping our services

During the year the Directorate received 74 complaints and 170
compliments. Complaints and compliments are an important aspect of how
we use information from people to shape our services. 

Page 46



How are people
shaping our services

“We're so delighted to have had such a positive conversation with you about
“X's” first visit to her prospective Shared Lives host. We're amazed that in
your words she was so mature and ready for this next stage in her life.
We've been stressed this morning worrying that it might not have gone well.
You've prepared “X” for this type of move over a long period so perhaps we
should have had more faith. We've told you often and we want to tell you
again that so much of this is down to you and your amazing relationship
with “X”. You've known us for about three years now, the support and
services that “X” has needed has come during that time. That can't be
coincidence. You've seen us at our lowest & and most broken and seen “X”
at her most stressed & out of control. We say so often where would we be
without you: we think “X” would have escalated the violence, would be on
more medication and moved to emergency accommodation. We would
either be very depressed and on medication or have a broken relationship.
Having a social worker is great and we have nothing but praise for
thebSocial Worker but because you are more hands-on you have witnessed
how we live and the problems we have had. You have created solutions and
made us feel that we are doing our best. “X” trusts you, you have a great
relationship with her. We trust you too, the lives of the three of us are better
because of the work you do with us. THANK YOU.”
 
This information will be further analysed during 2022/23 to highlight areas of
good practice as well as areas for training or development.

Page 47



Continued progress in developing relationships with the 3 community
clusters which form the geographical footprint for integrated primary and
community services. 
Recommissioned the regulated care at home services in a more
outcome focussed way with a strong emphasis on voice and control. 
Worked in partnership with People First and people with a learning
disability to co-produce a set of local priorities for future developments
in learning disability services. 

How well did we do?:

Adult Social Care

Quality Standard 1: Working with people and partners to
protect and promote people’s physical and mental health
and emotional

What we did:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 48



Further develop integrated community services, providing more
community services closer to home.
Improve the way we understand people’s experiences of our services,
using mechanisms in addition to surveys to obtain feedback from
people and families on how we can improve services. 
Undertake an independent review involving close consultation with
people accessing day services to co-produce a plan for the next 5
years.

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

What are we doing next

Mr “X” just wanted to express his
gratitude for the support received

in identifying services and
support for “Y”. He recognised
how difficult things have been

with Covid and was grateful that
the team has persevered and

sought appropriate services to
meet “Y’s” need.

Page 49



How well did we do?:

Adult Social Care

Quality Standard 2: Working with people and partners to
protect and promote people’s physical and mental health
and emotional

What we did:

Worked in partnership the regional substance misuse team and a
person with lived experience to recommission preventative substance
services to provide consistent provision across the region.
Completed a review of Telecare Services in line with the national digital
changeover requirements and secured funding for the process, sourcing
the digital equipment and developing the tender for the installation and
ongoing maintenance. 
Worked in partnership with Mental Health Matters and Cwm Taf
Morgannwg University Health Board to support the ongoing operation of
the “Wellbeing Retreat” for people experiencing a mental health crisis.

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 50



What are we doing next

Local (BCBC-focused) Adult’s Mental Health Strategy to be finalised
and implemented.
Complete the analogue to digital switchover of our Telecare Services
and use the new technology to increase the number of people who
benefit from telecare.
Deliver the next phase of strength based social work in Bridgend,
ensuring that we continue to understand ‘what matters’ and our practice
supports the achievement of people’s own wellbeing outcomes.

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 51



Quality Standard 3: Taking steps to protect and
safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm 

What we did:

Increased capacity within the Safeguarding & Secure Estates Team
by the appointment of an Assistant Team Manager.
Specialist training for Trauma Informed social work undertaken by the  
Safeguarding & Secure Estates Team.
Completed an impact assessment and established a project group in
readiness for the legislation to Liberty Protection Safeguards in 2023. 

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 52



What are we doing next:

Implement the Wales Safeguarding Procedures for adults at risk,
improving our paperwork to support practice
Work with partners to ensure that were there are concerns with the
quality of care this is sustainably improved through updated
Escalating Concerns protocols.
Work with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board regional
steering group for Liberty Protection Safeguard to ensure people are
not unlawfully detained in regulated and community settings and their
rights are safeguarded.

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 53



Continued to operate Day Opportunity Services at different levels during
the pandemic ensuring those in greatest need continued to receive
support and engage in activities. Day services staff took services to
‘people in their own homes
Developed a framework in relation to “closer to home” accommodation,
care and support schemes for people with learning disabilities enabling
the commissioning of individual contracts based on “what matters”
conversations.
Dementia and wellbeing support workers continued to work in
partnership with the multi professional team and clusters to support
people to connect with their communities.
·Following an engagement event with parents and carers in November
2021, the Directorate established a project group to review our its Direct
Payments Policy.

How well did we do?:

Quality Standard 4: Encouraging
and supporting people to learn,
develop and participate in society
What we did:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 54



The Day Service will implement a Quality Assurance Tool to
measure how well the service delivered.
Complete a review of the social work arrangements for transition
services for young people agreed between 14 and 25
Continue to work in partnership with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg
University Health Board on consolidating current arrangements to
develop seamless services in line with the dementia standards for
Wales.
Launch and implement our revised Direct Payments policy.

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

"We were so impressed and
truly grateful that our mother

feels a worthy member of
society once again."

How well did we do?:

Page 55



The Integrated Network Cluster Service Teams have provided more
timely support for adults presenting with dementia both pre and post
diagnosis. As part of this work, they have recruited six support
workers who work with adults, and those who support them, in
developing better social opportunities for people living with dementia. 
Completed a review of existing contracts for in-house care and
support at home staff to ensure contracts are flexible and meet the
needs of the carer and the service.
Community care inform is supporting our workforce to understand
research and evidence it in their practice.

How well did we do?:

Quality Standard 5: Supporting people to safely develop
and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal
relationships

What we did:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 56



Deliver on our ambitions for our complex dementia community and
day service
Address the recommendations of our Market Stability Report to
ensure sufficient supply and sustainability of social care services,
particularly the gaps in care and support at home and specialist care
home provision.
Implement the ‘Code of practice on the Delivery of Autism Services.'

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Fantastic! Thank you for
supporting “X” to have

positive relationships. You are
a great team!

Page 57



Retendered our Minor Adaptations service, which incorporated clear
performance indicators to measure the responsiveness of the service.
Commissioned an independent partner to support the development of
an Older Person’s Accommodation Strategy.
Established a care and support at home project group to ensure there
is sufficient workforce to meet the pressures and demands of
recruitment and retention. 

Quality Standard 6: Working with and supporting people
to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social
life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their
needs.

What we did:

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 58



Develop service planning groups for to developing commissioning
plans based on identified population needs and priority areas.
Develop joint commissioning strategies between Housing and
Social Care for key population groups including care experienced
children and older people.
Within our Support at Home service we are undertaking focused
activity to develop innovative recruitment methods such as
recruiting walkers to work in their local communities and securing
electric vehicles.

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

We would like to thank you all
for your help, care and

compassion that you all
showed our mam. Without your
help, we could not have coped.

We thank you all from the
bottom of our hearts.”

Page 59



Reviewed our model of strength based practice to ensure it supports
our workforce to provide the highest standards of social work for
children and families.
Commissioned a comprehensive range of independent quality
assurance to understand in depth the quality of practice
Comprehensive QA programme and commitment to understand in
depth the quality and outcomes from practice and to improve where
we need to.
Appointed a  Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer in March
2022 to improve engagement with care experienced children and care
leavers.

Quality Standard 1: Working with people to define and
co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people
wish to achieve

What we did:

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Children's Social Care

Page 60



Develop and implement practice development plans for each area of the
service.
Continue to embed quality assurance by the development of a refreshed
framework which supports the embedding of learning from practice
reviews and audit work. 
The Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer will engage with key
staff, multi-agency partners, council members, care experienced
children and care leavers on the development of a Corporate Parenting
Strategy.

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

"I have to say thank you for
your excellent conference

report, you made a
complicated situation very

easy to follow."

Page 61



Commissioned a regional MAPSS (Multi Agency Placement Support
Service) to deliver therapeutic interventions to care experienced
children and those placed for adoption 
A new CAMHS In-Reach service has been created with 40 pilot
schools across Cwm Taf Morgannwg, being identified as likely to
benefit from emotional wellbeing support in schools from September. 
Continued working with Tros Gynnal Plant to support issue-based
advocacy at a robust level despite covid restrictions. 

Quality Standard 2: Working with people and partners to
protect and promote people’s physical and mental
health and emotional

What we did:

How well did we do?:

Issue based Advocacy activity increased during 21-22. We received
referrals for 155 children and young people, who presented with 204 issues,

compared to 135 children and  young people and 193 issues in 20-21.

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 62



Complete a review of the social work arrangements for transition
services for young people agreed between 14 and 25.
Strengthen our working relationship with the CAMHs service to
ensure children we work with benefit from timely assessments and
services to meet their needs
Working to identify new approaches to continue to increase the
“Active Offer” and update of advocacy services. 

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 63



Established a working group to implement the recommendations of
the Public Law Outcome legal framework to achieve best practice in
child protection and family justice systems.
Undertook learning and reviews to understand immediately the
changes we needed to make following critical incidents in Bridgend
Established a managed care team to build additional capacity into our
front door IAA service and strengthen our working with partners
following challenges in meeting the level of need within our workforce
resources.

Quality Standard 3: Taking steps to protect and
safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm
What we did:

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 64



Ensure that all the local short and medium-term recommendations from
the Public Law Working Group reforms are implemented.
Ensure the learning from multi-agency child practice reviews is
understood and embedded within our workforce
Finalise and implement a review of the operating model of IAA services
for Children and Families.

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 65



Following an engagement event with parents and carers in November
2021, the Directorate established a project group to review its Direct
Payments Policy.
Provided a summer scheme for vulnerable care experienced children
and children in receipt of care and support services.
Provided free access to leisure facilities and programmes for children
and young people with disabilities, young carers and care
experienced children. 

Quality Standard 4: Encouraging and supporting people
to learn, develop and participate in society
What we did:

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 66



Launch and implement our revised Direct Payments policy.
Co-design a strategy for disabled children and their parents/carers.
Implement the Basic Income Pilot to support Care Leavers turning 18
between 01/07/22 and 30/06/23.

What are we doing next:

"I have never known a Social Worker
make the time and effort to come in

and do an activity with a young
person. I think this will have a

number of positive benefits for both
of you going forward. This is a great

way of working and Thank you."

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 67



Continued reduction in the safe number of care experienced children,
supporting them, where possible, to live with their families and where
this is not possible achieve permanence at the earliest possible
opportunity.
The new Care Experienced Children team became operational in
September 2021 ensuring care experienced children are supported to
maintain positive personal relationships in permanent arrangements
Due to unforeseen circumstances. the development of the Brynmenyn
Placement Hub was delayed. However during the year a further
tender exercise was completed and work on the site commenced.

Quality Standard 5: Supporting people to safely develop
and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal
relationships

What we did:

How well did we do?:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 68



Develop specialist support for foster carers who care for older care
experienced children.
Increase in the number of children who are supported to live with their
family under a Special Guardianship Order.
Completion and operational opening of the new Brynmenyn
Placements Hub including a review of the operating model to ensure
the service is fit for purpose to meet the needs of the children who will
be supported.

What are we doing next:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 69



The regional front door for prospective foster carers went live April
2021. This ensures that there is a timely response to all Foster Carer
Enquiries received.
Concluded the re-structure of the Fostering Service in December
2021 to support children to continue to live with in the most
appropriate permanence arrangement to meet their needs. 
Worked with V2C to develop the new solo residential provision for
children and young adults. 

Quality Standard 6: Working with and supporting people
to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social
life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their
needs.

How well did we do?:

What we did:

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 70



Introduce a Foster Carer Charter which will set out roles and
expectations of the Corporate Parent, Fostering Service and our Foster
Carers. 
In recognition of the important and critical role Foster Carers play as part
of Children’s Social Care, and current increased cost of living that is
being experienced a review of Foster Carer Allowances will be
completed.
Registration and opening of the new solo residential provision for
children and young adults. 

What are we doing next:

"All family members have
recognised the excellence of “X’s”

foster carers and how he is
integrated into his placement as a

family member, which has
supported his continuing positive

emotional development."

Promoting and improving the
wellbeing of those we help.

Page 71



Local Community Co-ordination and Community Navigator support
worked with vulnerable people to identify what a good life meant to
them, connecting them to communities.
We worked with Young Carers to better understand their wellbeing
needs and created respite opportunities.
The Feel Good for Life programme supported people living with
Dementia and their Carers to remain connected to maintain wellbeing.

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 1: Working with people to define and
co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people
wish to achieve

How well did we do?:

What we did:

• Community Navigators supported 990 vulnerable individuals during the
year and Local Community Co-ordinators circa 150 people monthly. 99%
of people reported being happy with the support received with 94% feeling
it made a difference to their lives.

• Over 200 Young Carers engaged in developing a new identity scheme,
advocacy resources to highlight their support needs and development of
‘You Are Valued’ activities. Young Carers network established.

Page 72



Co-produce wellbeing opportunities with Carers and Young Carers and
engage more partners in developing supportive opportunities.
Review the Building Resilient Communities approach to cross sector
working and identify more sustainable investment. Focus on
evidencing impact and cost effectiveness.
Expand the range of dementia supportive opportunities and increase
the range of partners involved.

Prevention & Wellbeing Services

What are we doing next:

• Feel Good for Life supported 200 people living with Dementia and
Carers and set up a customer panel to co-produce opportunities.  The
Social Value award was achieved for engaging customers and digital
support.

Page 73



We worked with BAVO to develop a Carer Wellbeing Network and
Carer respite opportunities.
The National Exercise Referral Scheme offered a digital and face to
face support programme linked to GP Practices.
Community based opportunities were delivered for children and
young people with additional needs and parent carers.

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 2: Working with people and partners to
protect and promote people’s physical and mental
health and emotional wellbeing

How well did we do?:

What we did:

Community partners collaborated to develop carers respite
opportunities and create a Carer Wellbeing Network with BAVO.
The National Exercise Scheme developed new pathways including
‘long Covid’ recovery, joint care and community wellness opportunities
with the Health Board.
Discovery Days and after school disability opportunities were rebuilt.
Bridgend Inclusive Network group (BING) built capacity in third sector
groups.Autism friendly activities developed by Halo.

Page 74



Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Support BAVO and Third Sector to continue to develop
more collaborative opportunities, linked to lived
experience. Identify how direct payments policy can
support innovation.
Rebuild exercise referral pathways and review public
accountability measure performance.
Map the availability of opportunities for children and
young people with additional needs and identify gaps to
be addressed.

What are we doing next:

Page 75



We engaged with the Older Persons Commissioner, Welsh
Government and the Age Friendly Communities programme aiming to
bring communities together.
We supported a cross sector ‘falls prevention’ network to collaborate
on improving postural stability, build confidence and help reduce the
rates of falls.
We worked with BAVO, the Alzheimer’s Society and community
partners to take forward Dementia Friendly Communities and other
support.

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 3: Taking steps to protect and
safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm

How well did we do?:

What we did:

Cabinet approval to take forward Age Friendly Communities.Lead staff
member engaged in ‘Infuse’ regional development focused on
engaging effectively with older adults. Supporting the rebuilding of the
older persons forum commenced.
Falls Prevention workshops held and ‘mobile falls’ approaches
supported by recovery funding.
100% of people sampled via the Alzheimer’s support identified it had
made a positive contribution to their lives. 120 people had ongoing
support and 1200 were provided with information.

Page 76



Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Increase the resource available to progress to Age Friendly
Communities as a ‘One Council’ approach in partnership with Welsh
Government.
Embed Otago and Postural Stability support in the community,
physical activity opportunities including workforce development
aspects.
Review the type of support that people living with Dementia or
cognitive impairment and carers say they need and refocus
resources and partnerships.

What are we doing next:

Page 77



We completed the third year of our leadership of the regional Super
Agers programme supported by Healthy and Active Funding.
We supported people to access services via the Awen Books on
Wheels and Bridgend Community Transport services.
We worked with Awen to develop a range of social prescribing and
social care recovery programmes.

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 4: Encouraging and supporting people
to learn, develop and participate in society

How well did we do?:

What we did:

Over 150 people benefitted locally from Super Agers with a range of
community partnerships established . 89% expressed improved
wellbeing and 75% felt less isolated.
Books on Wheels supported 449 people at home with library
resources and 13,832 issues. Digital access to resources has also
shown growth.Bridgend Community transport supported 200 day
services visits per week and the Town Rider scheme to connect
people to communities.
Awen supported a specific development post and social prescribing
activities including carers broadcasts, reminiscence activities and
mental health interventions.

Page 78



Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Super Agers is a manifesto commitment. Secure ongoing investment
and develop sustainable community led approaches.
Identify the impact of lack of transportation on vulnerable groups
being able to connect to communities and maintain their wellbeing.
Further develop social prescribing approaches linked to CTM Health
Board and Regional Investment Funding.

What are we doing next:

Page 79



The hub extended to additional school holiday periods and
progressions to connecting vulnerable young people into community
opportunities that meet needs. A focus on supporting safeguarding
concerns.
The Carer Wellbeing Service supported 2003 individuals.There were
307 ‘What Matters’ conversations and 411 receiving IAA and
signposting.
Over 500 households supported with FAZ resources and guidance on
active and healthy living

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 5: Supporting people to safely develop
and maintain healthy, domestic, family and personal
relationships

How well did we do?:

What we did:
We further developed our vulnerable hub support programmes for
vulnerable young people.
Our Carer Wellbeing Service supported people to maintain wellbeing
and connect to a range of support.
Our Family Active Zone programme supported families to improve use
of home space and time to live well.

Page 80



Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Ensure a skilled and confident workforce is in place between
Children’s services and prevention to further develop hub programmes
and trauma support.
Review the Carers Wellbeing Service in conjunction with Carers and
stakeholders. Develop an updated and co-produced specification.
Ensure family based and whole household support activities are further
developed, linked to early years strategy.

What are we doing next:

Page 81



Free Swimming supported 3490 people including over 60’s.The
Summer of Fun supported low cost community opportunities and the
Winter of Wellbeing programmes supported 10160 beneficiaries.
The Wales Co-operative Centre supported digital skills amongst
unpaid carers, 3 Community Centres were supported to ‘stream’
activities, virtual reality resources developed with Care Homes and 43
people supported digitally linked to hospital to home.

Prevention & Wellbeing Service

Quality Standard 6: Working with and supporting people
to achieve greater economic wellbeing, have a social
life and live in suitable accommodation that meets
needs

How well did we do?:

What we did:

We supported a range of low cost community opportunities for
children, young people and families including diverse needs.
We used technology to support people to remain connected and to
manage their wellbeing.

Continue to target and utilise external investments to
support delivery, community development and Third
Sector opportunity.
Deliver next phases of digital development with
Wales Co-op, Awen, Halo, Community Centres and
BAVO.

What are we doing next:

Page 82



Providing a programme of Dementia care training, aligned to the Good
Work Framework, accessed by managers, direct care staff, social
workers and occupational therapists.
Delivering Active Support Training in Supported Living settings. This
was to ensure that those assessing, care and support planning, and
reviewing, are able to reflect person centred care in care and support
plans.
Offering Collaborative Conversations training in integrated adults’
assessment and care and support teams, which considered the impact
of the pandemic on people’s priorities.
Providing a tiered approach to raising awareness around the impact of
trauma when working with children and young people. 
Providing an enhanced range of e-learning available to Foster Carers
and Children’s Residential staff via The Training Hub. 
Commencing a mandatory safeguarding training programme ‘Back to
Basics - Strengthening Social Work Practice’ training designed to
create a solid foundation and consistency of practice across Children’s
Social Care, Early years and Family Support 

We supported social care staff to develop their skills by: 

How we do what we do

Our workforce and how we support their professional
roles

Significantly enhancing our social work secondee scheme and
implementing a social work trainee scheme to increase the 

We supported qualifying pathways to careers in social care and social
work by:

      number of people we are supporting to become social work 
      qualified in Bridgend.

Page 83



How we do what we do

Introducing an Adult social care worker apprenticeship programme.
Seconding a member of staff to undertake a Foundation Degree in
Rehabilitation Work (Visual Impairment).
Working in collaboration with Social Care Wales, 12 Local
Authorities and 3 Further Education Colleges on the development of
a Vocational level 4 Social Services Practitioner (SSP) Qualification.
The first students enrolled in January 2022.

Supporting newly qualified social workers via our First year in
practice programme.
Providing mentoring and assessment for social workers undertaking
the Consolidation Programme.

We supported Post qualifying programmes for social work by:

How well did we do?:
Provided very specialist and general individual and team based support
following critical incidents in Bridgend to ensure our workforce could
readily access support when they need it in a timely way.
3838 learning activities were undertaken by staff.
56 social care staff achieved a health and social qualification at Level 2,
3, 4 or 5. 8 staff enrolled on the first cohort of the new Social Services
Practitioner Level 4 qualification.
7 staff achieved the Training, Assessment and Quality Assurance Award
(TAQA).
We provided 30 practice learning opportunities for social work students.
10 social workers completed the Consolidation Programme.
Bridgend commenced support for 9 social workers to 

2 social work team managers commenced the Team                  
 Manager Development Programme
A senior manager successfully completed the Middle 

      undertake a practice educator award

      Manager Programme

Page 84



How we do what we do

What are we doing next:

Supporting qualifying pathways to careers in social care and social
work.
Internationally recruiting social workers and establishing a
comprehensive support programme to support qualified social
workers working for the first time in Wales.
We will offer a Social Services Practitioner apprenticeship, working
across Children’s Social Care.  
Growing our own social workers’ by offering social work traineeship
opportunities and supporting staff to undertake the Social Services
Practitioner Award, which equates to the first year of the degree

We will be reviewing our first year in practice programme for newly
qualified social workers to ensure sufficiency, the best use of
resources and to promote confidence and competence across the
newly qualified workforce.  This will produce a revised first year in
practice programme for the Newly Qualified Social Workers joining
the Local Authority during the autumn of 2022.

We will be working with adult residential care home managers and
staff in preparation for the mandatory registration, from October
2022, of adult care home workers.   
We will able supporting domiciliary staff to ensure that they 
have the applicable training and qualifications for their first 

Post qualifying social work programmes 

Social Care Worker registration with Social Care Wales

      re-registration. 

Page 85



We will be broadening our core ‘back to basics programme’
programme. Training courses for 2022-23 will be mapped against the
following thematic headings: Values; Skills; Practice Standards; Well-
being; Trauma and Safeguarding.  Promoting consistency of practice
in line with legislation, policy and procedures on a local and national
level. 
Implementing a Social Work and Social Care Charter to be clear on
the offer to the Bridgend workforce.
Supporting workforce wellbeing as a priority, ensuring that we get the
basics right at all time, including supervision , appraisal and were
needed targeted specialist as well as general wellbeing support.

Liberty Protection Safeguards:
Supporting the workforce in social care and other relevant Local Authority
staff by way of preparation for the implementation. We will be developing
and delivering a training plan which will be aligned to Welsh Government
National Workforce and Training Plan.

Supporting our current workforce

Strength based practice
We will be supporting social workers and social care staff in the
application of strength-based practice. A strength-based practice
approach underpins the programme of Collaborative Conversations
training for Adult Social Care staff. Emphasising a collaborative 
process which allows people to work together to determine 
outcomes that draw on the person’s strengths and assets.

As already noted, across Children’s Social Care we will be            
 adopting the Signs of Safety practice framework,                             a
strength based, solution focused approach to practice.  

How we do what we do

What are we doing next:

Page 86



How we do what we do

Building a digitally ready workforce
We will be providing training for staff to support delivery of effective 
virtual learning.  In order to widen access to e and virtual learning we will 
ensure that we maintain currency of software ICT licences and continue
to build up our stock of tablets and laptop computers for loan.  
Alongside this to improve digital inclusion, ability and confidence for 
staff and foster carers we will facilitate access to digital skills workshops.

Page 87



the Welsh government Social care Pressures Grant which helped us
address social care pressures from overspends and winter pressure; 
and the Social Care Recovery Grant which enabled us to implement
key priorities and actions  in line with the Social care Recovery
Framework which supports planning to enable our services and
communities to move forward following the COVID-19 pandemic.

The net budget for the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate for 
2021-22 was £75.239 million and the actual outturn was £69.848 million
which following a drawdown of £48,000 from earmarked reserves (EMRs),
resulted in an under spend of £5.391 million.

The outturn budget has benefited from significant short term grant
investment:

Whilst these investments are helpful, the medium and long term
sustainability of the social work and social care sector remains a pressure.
Work undertaken during 2021/22 by ADSS Cymru demonstrates there is a
gap of £250m across Wales which would equate to around £5-6 million in
Bridgend to achieve a sustainable workforce in these areas to address the
increasing need and demand for services. 

How we do what we do

Our Financial Resources And 
How We Plan For The Future

Page 88



How we do what we do

As part of the 2023/24 Budget Setting process, the Directorate has
identified a significant amount of budget pressures totalling £12.8m. The
major budget pressures cover areas such as National Living Wage
increases, the cost due to the Older Person population increasing, the
increasing cost of Out of County placements, Learning Disabilities
Supported Living cost pressures, and increasing Care Home costs.

The Directorate has had a selection of EMRs set up at the end of the
2021/22 financial year, funded from the under spend position. These
additional earmarked reserves totalled £5.563m. These have been put in
place to support some of the pressure areas identified above. Key areas
supported by the EMRs include the Managed Team costs, the Grow Your
Own Social Worker initiative, the Telecare Analogue to Digital migration and
Social Work Capacity in the network teams.

The end of year annual Social Services and Wellbeing financial summary
can be found here in the Council Report outlining the revenue budget
outturn for 2021/22:
Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-22
 
It is clear that there are considerable underlying budget pressures in social
services and wellbeing in Bridgend to sustainably and safely deliver
statutory services and wellbeing and prevention priorities. Short term
funding in 2021/22 meant there were considerable underspends against
budgets. 

Page 89

http://ballot/documents/s27125/Revenue%20Budget%20Outturn%202021-22.pdf?LLL=0


How we do what we do

Our Partnership Working, Political And Corporate Leadership,
Governance And Accountability

Partnership and multi-agency working is key to the delivery of our services.
Key partners regional partners include Cwm Taf Morgannwg University
Health Board, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board. The
Directorate also has a number of teams that are co-located with key
agencies to ensure these include the Bridgend Multi-Agency Safeguarding
Team and the Integrated Cluster Network Teams. We also work with key
third sector partners, AWEN and HALO in the delivery of our leisure, cultural
and wellbeing services. Working in this way enables us to share
information, knowledge and resources.

The Directorate has its own Cabinet Member who  is the Deputy Leader of
the Council reflecting the importance of the portfolio who along with the
other Cabinet Members are responsible for making major decisions and
policies for Bridgend. The Cabinet has a Corporate Parenting Committee
that meet quarterly. The Corporate Parenting Committee makes important
policy decisions on service provision for care experienced children and care
leavers. There are also a number of Overview and Scrutiny committees who
also consider policies and developments across Social Services and
Wellbeing making recommendations on future service delivery.

Links to all of the 2021/22 Cabinet, Council, Corporate Parenting and
Overview and Scrutiny Committee reports and minutes that relate to 
social care can be accessed here.

Page 90



How we do what we do

The Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing is a member of
the Council’s Cabinet Corporate Management Board who meet weekly
and the Cabinet and Corporate Management Board who meet fortnightly.
The purpose of these meetings is to ensure oversight of council business
by agreeing key strategic and operational priorities in line with the “One
Council Approach”.

The Directorate’s performance is measured at a directorate, local,
regional and national level. Performance is measured on a regular basis
across all 3 service areas with core operational data being monitored on
a weekly, fortnightly or monthly basis and is scrutinised on a quarterly
basis via the Council’s Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA)
Meeting. The CPA monitor’s our performance against the Council’s
Wellbeing Objectives as set out in its Corporate Plan.

Key performance data is shared on a regional basis with the Cwm Taf
Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board and on a national level we
have a statutory duty to report performance adapt to Welsh Government
on a quarterly and annual basis. 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 has established a
new legislative framework to measure local government performance.
The Act will require BCBC, along with all Local Authorities in Wales. to
undertake and publish a self-assessment of its performance
requirements in relation to exercising its functions, effective and efficient
use of resources  and governance arrangements. Bridgend’s report,
reflecting 2021-22, will be published later this year following 
consultation and engagement with communities, staff and scrutiny.

Page 91

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/performance-plans-and-reports/corporate-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

5 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL & REGULATORY SERVICES, HR & 
CORPORATE POLICY 

 
FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Present the Committee with the Forward Work Programme (Appendix A) for 

this Committee for consideration and approval; 
 

b) Request any specific information the Committee identifies to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Request the Committee to identify any further items for consideration on the 
Forward Work Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 
4.3; 
 

d) Advise that the updated Forward Work Programmes for the Subject Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees (SOSCs) will be reported to the next meeting of 
Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee (COSC) following the conclusion of the 
next cycle of SOSC meetings;  
 

e) Present the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet (Appendix B) to track 
responses to the Committee’s recommendations made at the previous 
meetings. 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
 

• Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

• Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



 

• Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

to develop and implement a Forward Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
3.2 The Council’s Constitution also provides for each Subject Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to propose items for the Forward Work Programme having regard for 
the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Risk Management framework, for the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to have oversight and refer any cross 
cutting topics to a Scrutiny Committee.  

 
 Best Practice / Guidance 
 
3.3 The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Good Scrutiny Guide recognises 

the importance of the forward work programme. In order to ‘lead and own the 
process’, it states that Councillors should have ownership of their Committee’s work 
programme, and be involved in developing, monitoring and evaluating it. The Good 
Scrutiny Guide also states that, in order to make an impact, the scrutiny workload 
should be coordinated to ensure that it contributes to the delivery of corporate 
objectives, and that work can be undertaken in a timely and well-planned manner.  

 
3.4 Forward Work Programmes need to be manageable to maximize the effective use 

of the limited time and resources of Scrutiny Committees.  It is not possible to 
include every topic proposed.  Successful Scrutiny is about looking at the right topic 
in the right way and Members need to be selective, while also being able to 
demonstrate clear arguments for including or excluding topics.  

 
3.5   The CfGS’s guide to work effective work programming ‘A Cunning Plan?’ makes the 

following reference to the importance of good work programming: 
 

‘Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 
well it can help lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on issues 
of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can end up 
wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is likely to 
be minimal.’ 

 
 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Draft Forward Work Programme 
 
3.6 Following the approval of the schedule of Scrutiny Committee meeting dates at the 

Annual Meeting of Council on 18th May 2021, the standing statutory reports to this 
Scrutiny Committees upon: the Corporate Plan the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, Performance, the Corporate Plan, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and Budget, Performance and Budget Monitoring, etc. were mapped to the 
appropriate timely meeting dates into a draft Forward Work Programme. 

 
 

Page 94



 

3.7 The draft Forward work programme for this Committee was prepared using a 
number of difference sources, including:  

 

• Corporate Risk Assessment;  

• Directorate Business Plans; 

• Previous Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme report topics / Minutes; 

• Committee / Member proposed topics; 

• Policy Framework; 

• Cabinet Work Programme; 

• Discussions with Corporate Directors; 

• Performance Team regarding the timing of performance information.  
 

3.8 There are items where there is a statutory duty for Policy Framework documents to 
be considered by Scrutiny, e.g., the MTFS including draft budget proposals 
scheduled for consideration in December 2022, following which the Committee will 
coordinate the conclusions and recommendations from each of the Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees in a report on the overall strategic overview of 
Cabinet’s draft Budget proposals to the meeting of Cabinet in February 2023.   
 

3.9 An effective FWP identifies the issues that the Committee wishes to focus on during 
the year and provide a clear plan.  However, at each meeting the Committee will have 
an opportunity to review this as the Forward Work Programme Update will be a 
standing item on the Agenda, detailing which items are scheduled for future meetings 
and be requested to clarify any information to be included in reports and the list of 
invitees.  The FWP will remain flexible and will be revisited at each COSC meeting 
with updates from each SOSC FWP and any updated information gathered from FWP 
meetings with Corporate Directors. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The Committee approved its Forward Work Programme (FWP) at the previous 

meeting held on 21 July 2022, subject to the inclusion of the following requested 
reports: 

  
- Homelessness, Housing and Empty Properties to include Housing Options for 

Care Leavers 
 

- Progress on the Performance of Disabled Facilities Grants, including the support 
arrangements provided by Neath Port Talbot due to end at the end of 2022. 

 
- Cost of Living Payment Scheme - once concluded a report on the operational 

delivery of the scheme / lessons learned. 
 

- Workforce, Recruitment and Retention.  
 

The requested reports have been added at the end of the FWP attached as 
Appendix A and the Scrutiny Team is liaising regarding the scheduling of the 
reports and will report back to the Committee.  

 
4.2 The Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programmes will be 

reported to the next meeting of COSC for coordination and oversight of the overall 

Page 95



 

FWP, following consideration by their respective Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 

 

 Identification of Further Items 
 
4.3 The Committee is reminded of the Criteria Form which Members can use to 

propose further items for the FWP which the Committee can then consider for 
prioritisation at a future meeting.  The Criteria Form emphasises the need to 
consider issues such as impact, risk, performance, budget and community 
perception when identifying topics for investigation and to ensure a strategic 
responsibility for Scrutiny and that its work benefits the Authority.  There are a 
number of questions and processes that can help the Committee come to a 
decision on whether to include a referred topic, some of which are set out below: 

 Recommended Criteria for Selecting Scrutiny Topics: 
 
 PUBLIC INTEREST:  The concerns of local people should influence the issues 

chosen for scrutiny;  
 
 ABILITY TO CHANGE:  Priority should be given to issues that the Committee 

can realistically influence, and add value to;  
 
 PERFORMANCE:  Priority should be given to the areas in which the Council 

is not performing well;  
 
 EXTENT:  Priority should be given to issues that are relevant to all 

or large parts of the County Borough; or a large number 
of the Authority’s service users or its population; 

 
 REPLICATION:  Work programmes must take account of what else is 

happening in the areas being considered to avoid 
duplication or wasted effort.  

 

 Reasons to Reject Scrutiny Topics: 
 

 • The issue is already being addressed / being examined elsewhere and change is   
              imminent.  

 • The topic would be better addressed elsewhere (and can be referred there).  

 • Scrutiny involvement would have limited / no impact upon outcomes. 

 • The topic may be sub-judice or prejudicial. 

 • The topic is too broad to make a review realistic and needs refining / scoping. 

 • New legislation or guidance relating to the topic is expected within the next year.  

 • The topic area is currently subject to inspection or has recently undergone  
    substantial change / reconfiguration. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
 

4.4 Corporate Parenting is the term used to describe the responsibility of a Local 
Authority towards looked after children and young people. This is a legal 
responsibility given to local authorities by the Children Act 1989 and the Children 
Act 2004. The role of the Corporate Parent is to seek, for children in public care, the 
outcomes every good parent would want for their own children. The Council as a 
whole is the ‘corporate parent’, therefore all Members have a level of responsibility 

Page 96



 

for the children and young people looked after by Bridgend. 
 

4.5 In this role, it is suggested that Members consider how each item they consider 
affects children in care and care leavers, and in what way can the Committee assist 
in these areas. 
 

4.6 Scrutiny Champions can greatly support the Committee in this by advising them of 
the ongoing work of the Cabinet-Committee and particularly any decisions or 
changes which they should be aware of as Corporate Parents. 

 
4.7 The Forward Work Programme for COSC is attached as Appendix A for the 

Committee’s consideration. 
 
4.8 The Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet for the previous meetings is 

attached as Appendix B, to track responses to the Committee’s recommendations 
at the previous meetings. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The work of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees relates to the review and 

development of plans, policy or strategy that form part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework and consideration of plans, policy or strategy relating to the power to 
promote or improve economic, social or environmental wellbeing in the County 
Borough of Bridgend. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions.  It is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, 

with 5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report:  

 

• Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the planning of Scrutiny 
business in both the short-term and in the long-term on its policies, budget and 
service delivery.  

 

• Prevention - The early preparation of the Forward Work Programme allows for 
the advance planning of Scrutiny business where Members are provided an 
opportunity to influence and improve decisions before they are made by 
Cabinet.  

 

• Integration - The report supports all the wellbeing objectives.  

Page 97



 

 

• Collaboration - Consultation on the content of the Forward Work Programme 
has taken place with the Corporate Management Board, Heads of Service, 
Elected Members and members of the public.  

 

• Involvement - Advanced publication of the Forward Work Programme ensures 
that the public and stakeholders can view topics that will be discussed in 
Committee meetings and are provided with the opportunity to engage. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1  The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for the Committee 
attached as Appendix A;  
 

b) Identify any specific information the Committee wishes to be included in the 
report for the next two Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings, 
including invitees they wish to attend. 
 

c) Identify any further items for consideration on the Forward Work Programme 
having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 4.3; 
 

d) Note that the updated Forward Work Programmes for the Subject Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (SOSCs) will be reported to the next meeting of COSC, 
following the conclusion of the next cycle of SOSC meetings; 
  

e) Note the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet to track responses to the 
Committee’s recommendations made at the previous meetings as Appendix B. 

 
 
Kelly Watson 
Legal & Regulatory Services, HR & Corporate Policy  
30 August 2022 

 
 

Contact Officers:  Meryl Lawrence 
    Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny 
 
    Lucy Beard 

 Scrutiny Officer 
 
 Jessica McLellan 

Scrutiny Officer 
 
Telephone:   (01656) 643515 / 643613 / 643263 
 
Email:   scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk  

Page 98

mailto:scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk


 

Postal address:  Democratic Services - Scrutiny 
    Bridgend County Borough Council 
    Civic Offices 
    Angel Street 
    Bridgend 
    CF31 4WB 
 

 
Background documents: None.  
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Forward Work Programme 2022-23            APPENDIX A 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee:               
 

Date of Meeting: Report Topics: 

 
Thursday  
30 June   
9.30am 
 

- Election of Chairperson report; 
- Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-22 
- Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report; 
- Draft Forward Work Programme 

 

Thursday  

21 July    

9.30am 

 

- Budget Monitoring 2022-23 – Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast  
- Council’s Performance against its Wellbeing Objectives for  
      2021 - 22 (Year End Performance) 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report 

Monday 
5 September   
10am  

 
- Director of Social Services Annual Report 2021/22 

 

Thursday 

27 October     

10am  

 
- Budget Monitoring 2022-23 – Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast 
 

Thursday  
15 December    
10am  

- Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-23 to 2025-26 
and Budget Proposals * 

- Q2 Performance Report 2022-23  

 

Tuesday  

31 January 

10am 

- Scrutiny Recommendations on Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2023-24 to 2026-27 and Draft Budget 
Consultation Process  

- New Corporate Plan 2023 – 2028 
- Capital Strategy 2023 – 24 onwards 
- Budget Monitoring 2022-23 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast  

Thursday 
2 March 
10am 

 
TBC 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Homelessness, Housing and Empty Properties to include 
Housing Options for Care Leavers 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Progress on the Performance of Disabled Facilities Grants, 
including the support arrangements provided by Neath Port 
Talbot due to end at the end of 2022. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Cost of Living Payment Scheme - once concluded a report on 
the operational delivery of the scheme / lessons learned. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Workforce, Recruitment and Retention. 

 

*If the Budget Settlement is received late as in previous years, the scrutiny of the 

Draft MTFS and Budget Proposals will need to be moved to meeting dates to be 

convened after Cabinet in January 2023. 

Dependent upon the above there may need to request a meeting be scheduled in 

the first half of February to redistribute topics and this can be kept under review. 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B  

 
 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - RECOMMENDATIONS MONITORING ACTION SHEET 
 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

 
30 June 2022 

 
Call-in of Cabinet 
Decision: Recycling 
and Waste Service 
Post 2024  

 
The Committee concluded that 
the Decision would not be 
referred back to Cabinet but 
made a number of 
recommendations: 
 
a) That any future consideration 

of the Waste contract be 
presented to the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at a suitable time 
so as to enable pre-decision 
scrutiny and effective input 
into any forthcoming decision.  
The Committee requested that 
this incorporate any specialist 
advice that is commissioned 
for the future waste service 
model, before referring on to 
Cabinet, as mentioned at 
paragraph 9.5 of the Cabinet 
report; 

 
b) That going forward, 

contingency measures as well 
as a deeper look at other 
possible options for waste 

 
Scrutiny / Cabinet  

 
Recommendations being formally 
reported to Cabinet 13 
September 2022 for 
consideration and response to be 
provided to COSC. 

P
age 103



Appendix B  

 
 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

service provision is fully and 
openly considered and 
deliberated; 

 
c) That the other options that 

were considered in order for 
Cabinet to arrive at the current 
decision for a short-term 
waste contract from 2024 to 
2026, be published in the 
public domain to ensure full 
openness and transparency. 

 

 
30 June 2022 

 
Revenue Budget 
Outturn 2021-22 
 

 
The Committee requested 
information be provided on the 
nature and source of insurance 
claims in 2021-22. 
 

 
Scrutiny / Chief 
Officer Finance, 
Performance and 
Change 

 
Recommendations requested - to 
be provided. 

 
30 June 2022 

 
Revenue Budget 
Outturn 2021-22 
 

 
The Committee requested 
information be provided 
demonstrating the Revenue 
Reserves held by Directorate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Scrutiny / Chief 
Officer Finance, 
Performance and 
Change 

 
Recommendations requested - to 
be provided. 

P
age 104



Appendix B  

 
 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

 
21 July 2022 

 
Budget Monitoring 
2022-23 - Quarter 1 
Revenue Forecast  
 

 
The Committee highlighted the 
impact of the volatility of the price 
of fuel on services, providers and 
the Council budget and 
recommended the need to be 
mindful of this going forward 
when scrutinising related reports. 

 
Scrutiny / 
Committee 
Members 

 
Recommendation to be actioned 
by the Scrutiny Team and the 
Committee. 

 
21 July 2022 

 
Budget Monitoring 
2022-23 - Quarter 1 
Revenue Forecast  
 

 
The Committee requested 
information regarding current 
recruitment issues, vacancy rates 
and data regarding repeat 
advertisements for job vacancies. 
 

 
Scrutiny / Chief 
Officer Legal, 
Regulatory and 
Human 
Resources  

 
Recommendations circulated 
requesting response - to be 
provided. 

 
21 July 2022 
 
 

 
Budget Monitoring 
2022-23 - Quarter 1 
Revenue Forecast  
 

 
The Committee requested the 
total amount of projected schools’ 
deficit budget for 2022-2023. 

 
Scrutiny / 
Corporate 
Director – 
Education and 
Family Support 

 
ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 21 July 
2022. 
 

 
21 July 2022 
 

 
Council Performance 
Against its 
Commitments for the 
Year 2021-22  
 

 
The Committee recommended 
that the narrative for Welsh 
Government PAM/015 (PSR002) 
in Appendix A regarding Disabled 
Facilities Grants be expanded to 
clarify that it included all 
persons/groups.  
 

 
Scrutiny / Chief 
Officer Finance, 
Performance and 
Change 

 
Recommendations circulated 
requesting response - to be 
provided. 

P
age 105



Appendix B  

 
 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

 
21 July 2022 
 

 
Council Performance 
Against its 
Commitments for the 
Year 2021-22  
 

 
The Committee requested a 
written response regarding the 
lengthy process of compelling 
property owners to bring their 
empty properties into reuse to 
include real case examples and 
timescales. 
 

 
Scrutiny / Chief 
Officer Finance, 
Performance and 
Change / Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 

 
Recommendations circulated 
requesting response - to be 
provided. 

 
21 July 2022 
 
 

 
Council Performance 
Against its 
Commitments for the 
Year 2021-22  
 

 
The Committee requested 
updated literature regarding 
Bridgend’s promotion of foster 
care recruitment. 

 
Scrutiny / 
Corporate 
Director -Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 
 

 
Recommendations circulated 
requesting response - to be 
provided.  

 

P
age 106


	Agenda
	3 Director of Social Services Annual Report 2021/22
	3a. Appendix 1 - SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING DIRECTORATE Director of Social Services Annual Report 202122 Final

	5 Forward Work Programme Update
	5a. Appendix A - COSC FWP 22-23
	5b. Appendix B - Action Sheet COSC


